1977

State Bank of Lehi v. Ralph O. Woolsey and Sylvia W. Woolsey : Brief of Defendants-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action to declare certain notes in default and to foreclose a security interest held by the plaintiff-respondent in the real and personal property which constitutes the defendant-appellants mink ranch, located on Saratoga Road near Lehi, Utah and a mortgage on defendants, Sylvia Woolsey's home. The appellants claim that the trial court erred in several respects in granting judgment in favor of the plaintiff-respondent and that the trial judge erred in ruling that the plaintiff-respondent had not acted wrongfully in declaring a default and having a receiver appointed.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After a trial on the merits, the trial court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law which allowed the plaintiff-respondent to foreclose its security interests. The trial court had previously permitted the ex parte appointment of a receiver, who has continued in possession of the property until a sale was held pursuant to the foreclosure decree.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellants seek to have this Court reverse certain Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the trial court and to enter judgment against the respondent and for

the appellants or, in the alternative, to remand this matter to the trial court for further hearings on the matter. Appellants request this Court to order that the issues of fact in the further hearings be heard and decided by a jury.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellants, Ralph O. Woolsey and Sylvia Grossgebauer Woolsey, were the owners and operators of a mink ranch near Lehi, Utah. To finance the expansion and operation of the mink ranch, the appellants had obtained several loans from the respondent, the State Bank of Lahi. The loans in question were made on June 19, 1974, July 3, 1975, and December 12, 1975. The appellants pledged all of the personal and real property which constituted the mink ranch as security for these loans. In addition, Mrs. Woolsey's interest in a home in Provo, Utah, was mortgaged as additional security for the 1974 loan. The parties disagree as to the terms for the release of the security interest in that home.

In December of 1975, approximately 981 mink pelts were stolen from the Woolsey ranch. These pelts were insured and the insurance proceeds have subsequently been paid.

On January 2, 1976, the Bank obtained the appointment of a receiver to take possession of the mink ranch and to manage it. This was done at an ex parte hearing and no notice was given to the appellants prior to the receiver's arrival at the ranch to take possession. The appointment of the receiver was based on the Bank's declaration of default on the grounds that it deemed itself insecure due to the theft

of the pelts. The appellants have alleged that there was

no valid basis for the default or the appointment of the receiver and that the same were not done in good faith.

ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

The appellants argue on appeal that the trial court erred as a matter of law in striking their demand for a jury trial and in ordering appellant Sylvia Woolsey's testimony concerning fraud stricken from the record as violative of the parol evidence rule. The appellants also argue that the trial court erred in failing to find that the parties had agreed to extend the payment of the \$115,000 note to March 1, 1976, erred in finding that the plaintiff properly accelerated the payments due under the notes, and that the defendants (appellants) had not established a lack of good faith in declaring a default under the security agreement. Appellants believe that all of the factual findings were against the clear weight of the evidence.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO STRIKE DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL.

On June 9, 1976, the trial court granted the plaintiff's motion to strike the defendants' demand for a jury trial. (R. 57) The order granting the motion gave the following as the grounds for denying the defendants their right to a jury trial:

This Order is based upon the finding by this Court that the issues to be decided are largely equitable and arise from an interpretation of written contracts and therefore the defendants are not entitled to a jury trial.

(R. 57)

As the appellants will show, this finding was erroneous and the trial court improperly precluded the defendants-appellants from presenting their case to a jury.

A review of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered in this action will readily disclose that the greater number of issues in this matter were factual and not equitable in nature. (R. 43-49) The findings of fact, seventeen in number, take approximately four full pages to enumerate, while the conclusions of law, ten in number, take only two and a half. Not only are the factual issues more numerous, but their determination is the crucial factor in this case and the conclusions of law are merely subsidiary to those fact questions. This is illustrated by the following example:

1. As shown in Point II, it was an essential fact question whether or not the parties had made an oral agreement to extend the time for payment of the \$115,000 note to March 1, 1976. This fact was critical to the determination of the respondent's rights to declare the notes in default as ruled in Findings 2(a) and 9.

The existence of such an agreement was obviously, a fact question to be decided by a jury. This matter was not "entirely founded in the interpretation of legal documents", or in giving legal effect to such instruments. There were valid fact questions in this case which the appellants were constitutionally and statutorily entitled to have submitted to a jury. U.C.A. §78-21-2 (1953).

2. The findings of fact concerning the alleged mismanagement of the mink ranch and the other grounds for insecurity

alleged by the Bank were obviously important in determining whether or not it had acted in good faith in declaring the notes to be in default and in having a receiver appointed.

3. The most important determination made by the trial court was a fact question; i.e. did the Bank act in good faith in declaring the debtors (appellants) to be in default? This issue is determinative of most of the important issues in this case.

The question of good faith in accelerating notes which are due "on or before" a certain date (as are those in this case) has always been a jury question under the provisions of the U.C.C. Although this issue has not been treated by the Utah Supreme Court, the courts of other states appear to be unanimous in this matter. In Fort Knox National Bank v. Gustafson, 385 S.W.2d 196 (1964), the Kentucky Court of Appeals ruled that the question of "good faith" under the section in question (analogue to U.C.A. §70A-1-208) is required to be submitted to the jury unless there is no competent evidence to support such a finding. Universal C.I.T Credit Corp. v. Shepler, 329 N.E.2d 620 (Ind. 1975) also recognizes that the question of good faith is a jury question. Because this fact question, as well as the others listed above, was of such crucial importance in the resolution of this matter, the appellants assert that the trial court's ruling was clearly erroneous and that the appellants were wrongfully denied their right to a jury trial.

The right to a jury trial has always been jealously guarded in this state and the appellants believe that the

trial court ignored firm precedent in striking their demand for a jury trial. The appellants believe that the case of Petty v. Clark, 102 Utah 186, 129 P.2d 568 (1942) is controlling in this matter and that the rationale of that case affirms the appellants' argument that they were entitled to a jury trial. In the Petty case, there was only one fact raised in a foreclosure action, which is similar to the facts in the present case except that there were fewer fact issues. In Petty, the history of equitable and legal pleadings were reviewed and then this Court found that the existence of one fact issue was enough to entitle the defendant to a jury trial:

At common law, law and equity were administered by different courts. In courts of law, the parties were entitled to a jury to determine issues of fact, but in courts which administered equity, there was no jury. Often the courts of equity required parties to litigate certain issues in the law courts before equity would intervene, and in many instances it required two suits to determine what is now determined in only one suit.

Under the common-law system, two suits would have been required to determine this action: (1) a suit in the law court to determine the amount owing under the contract; (2) if the judgment for that amount were not paid, the plaintiff would be required to go into a court of equity to foreclose the defendant's equity of redemption.

Under the Utah Constitution and Statutes, there is but one form of civil action—the same court administers both law and equity, often in the same action. Constitution of Utah, Article VIII §19; Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, 104-1-2. In order to prevent more than one action in the foreclosure of mortgages, the legislature in 104-55-1 expressly provides: "There can be but one action for the recovery of any debt or the enforcement of any right secured by mort-

The legislature thus contemplated the joining of an action at law and a suit in equity in the same action.

* * *

In the present case the only disputed issue of fact in the case, and the one which was submitted to the jury, is whether the interest paragraph was a part of the contract when it was delivered. That issue was a part of plaintiff's main action to recover money owing under the contract, which action is clearly an action at law. The mere fact that plaintiff demanded equitable relief, to wit: the foreclosure of his lien would not deprive the defendant of his right to have the issue of fact determined by a jury.

This holding directly opposes the holding of the trial court on this issue. (R. 241-242). In light of the facts that there were many factual issues in this case and that these were the predominant issues, this rationale is clearly applicable and demonstrates the error of the trial court in striking the defendants' demand for a jury.

The Petty decision is clearly in line with other Utah cases which have consistently protected a citizens' right to a jury trial. Several of these cases have held that the right to a jury trial should be scrupulously guarded. See e.g. Butz v. Union Pacific Railway Co., 233 P.2d 332 (Utah 1951) and Stickle v. Union Pacific Railway Co., 251 P.2d 867 (Utah 1952). In the latter case, this Court gave the basis for the preservation of these rights:

In our democratic system, the people are the repository of power whence the law is derived; from its initiation and creation to its final application and enforcement, the law is the expression of their will. The functioning of a cross-section of the citizenry as a jury is the method by which the people express this will in the application of law to controversies which arise under it. Both our constitutional and statutory provisions assure trial by jury to citizens of this state.

Courts, as final arbiters of law, could arrogate to themselves arbitrary and dangerous powers by presuming to determine questions of fact which litigants have a right to have passed upon by juries. Part of the merit of the jury system is its safeguarding against such arbitrary power in the courts. To the great credit of the courts of this country, they have been extremely reluctant to infringe upon this right, and by leaving it unimpaired have kept the administration of justice close to the people.

This rationale and holding of this case are found repeatedly in other Utah cases. See Abdulkadir v. Western Pacific Railroad, 7 U.2d 53, 318 P.2d 339 (1957); Holland v. Wilson, 8 U.2d 11, 327 P.2d 250 (1958); Valley Mortuary v. Fairbanks, 225 P.2d 739 (Utah 1950); and Corbet v. Cox, 30 U.2d 361, 517 P.2d 1318 (1974). Even though some of these cases upheld summary judgments or other judicial acts which would take the determination of a case from the jury, all of them gave the same standard.

It is important to note that in this case the parties had progressed for four months in this case before the plaintiff made its motion to strike the defendant's request for a jury. The motion was made after the pre-trial conference had been held and the court had issued a Pre-Trial Order dated March 12, 1976, which clearly anticipated a jury trial in this matter. (R. 74). It was months later that the plaintiff made its motion to strike the defendants' demand. It would seem to the appellants that such conduct approximates a waiver of any objection.

In summary, the appellants believe that the trial court was clearly in error when it struck the defendants' request for a jury trial. That action was erroneous because there

were many issues of fact which the defendants were entitled to have decided by a jury and because the fact issues were clearly the major issues in this trial, even though the action was nominally an equitable one.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE PARTIES HAD ORALLY AGREED TO EXTEND THE DUE DATE OF THE \$115,000 NOTE TO MARCH 1, 1976.

The first fact issue to be considered will be whether or not the parties reached an oral agreement in July of 1975 to extend the due date for a \$115,000 note to March 1, 1976. This note was originally executed on June 19, 1974, and was due on or before February 20, 1975. (Plaintiff's Ex. 9, R. 115) This question will be considered first because its resolution is fundamental to the succeeding points.

The appellants believe that the evidence at the hearing of January 16, 1976 and at trial clearly showed that an oral agreement was reached in July of 1975 which gave the defendants until March 1, of 1976 to pay a previously executed and overdue note in the amount of \$115,000. This contention is based on several elements of testimony and evidence:

1. The testimony of the respondent-Bank's president, Calvin H. Swenson.
2. Plaintiff's Exhibit 15, which is a security agreement dated July 3, 1975. (R. 123-124)
3. The testimony of the defendants, Ralph O. Woolsey and Sylvia W. Woolsey.

The first element (the testimony of Mr. Swenson) is

probably the strongest support of the appellants' argument. Mr. Swenson is the president of the State Bank of Lehi (the plaintiff in this action) and was the person with whom the plaintiffs had dealt for several years in obtaining loans for the construction and operation of their mink ranch. In his deposition, which was taken on March 11, 1976, Mr. Swenson clearly admits that the date of March 1, 1976, was established as the date for payment of the new note for \$45,000 as well as the old one for \$115,000:

Q. Was any mention made at this time of the \$115,000 note?

A. I don't recall the specific mention, but they were aware that there was still a carry-over of \$111,000 and that this was just in addition just to tide them through in the operations this year.

Q. And was it the position of the bank at this time that the \$115,000 note and the \$45,000 note would then all be due at the same time?

A. Well, it was our intention that the \$115,000 note - - it was our knowledge that that was past due and we agreed to carry that with them in its present state until such time as he could effect the refinancing.

Q. Was the target date for that March 1, 1976?

A. Well, we assumed that it would be necessary to get the mink pelts sold in order to know at that point just how we stood.

Q. Is that why the March 1st date was arrived at?

A. Yes.

Q. Was it because of your past experience that you knew that once the pelts are sent to the market, it takes a period of time before they're sold and before you get your money back?

A. That's right. And it was Mr. Woolsey's in-

tention to send the mink so they'd get in on the early sale.

Q. And the early sale is the January sale?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you know that when the mink go in the January sale, that it is generally in mid or late February before payments are received?

A. That's why we set the March 1st date.
(emphasis added) (R. 125, pp. 52-53, and R. 294-296).

Although Mr. Swenson attempted to hedge and qualify these answers at trial, it is obvious from the deposition testimony that the Woolseys were given until March 1, 1976, to repay all of the loans through receipt of income and by additional financing from other sources. (R. 136-137) Mr. Swenson tried to state at trial that the loan was to have been refinanced during the pelting season. Such a statement is unreasonable in light of the fact that Mr. Swenson knew that the mink sale monies would not be received until late February or early March and that it was highly unlikely that any institution would provide financing until the outstanding debt had been reduced by payments from the sale receipts. (See Swenson's testimony, R. 295-296). The predisposition of the trial judge was evident from his statements at the first hearing, which occurred before the issue was ever in question. (R. 210-211). Thus, the right to a jury trial was clearly essential.

The appellants' contention is also supported by the Security Agreement which was executed by the parties on July 3, 1975 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 15, also reproduced at R. 123-

124) This agreement specified that it is to secure the payment of the old and new loans, including the \$115,000 note which had been overdue since February 20, 1975. (R. 115). It is of critical importance to note that the bank did not foreclose the \$115,000 note in July of 1975, but chose instead to loan the appellants another \$51,000 for the coming year. Both of the new notes which were executed pursuant to this Security Agreement were due on March 1, 1976, which was the date Mr. Swenson testified was the target date for refinancing.

Both of the defendants testified that an express oral agreement was entered into which gave the Woolseys until March 1 to pay off the loan which was overdue. Mr. Woolsey testified that Mr. Swenson agreed to extend the due date of the "big loan" to the time when the new, \$45,000 note would be due (R. 350) and that the Bank was willing to work with him one hundred percent (R. 185) and Mrs. Woolsey testified that the old note "would be extended for a year with the new note". (R. 468). Both of the defendants testified that new collateral was pledged as consideration for the extension. (R. 351, 468).

Appellants contend that, inasmuch as the above three witnesses were the only ones that testified concerning the transactions of the parties, their testimony obviously constitutes the clear weight of the evidence and that such evidence clearly showed that the Bank (through Mr. Swenson) granted the Woolseys until March 1, 1976 to obtain refinancing and to pay off the \$115,000 which had accumulated over

several years. The failure of the trial court to so find is clearly error and, because such a finding would substantially affect the other findings in the matter, the failure constitutes reversible error by the trial court.

The appellants believe that the majority of legal authorities support the propriety of such a mutual extension agreement. Anderson in his treatise, the Uniform Commercial Code, states, on page 659 of §3-109:19, that a contract for extension of time may be either written or oral. 11 Am.Jur2d, Bills and Notes, §298, p. 326 states that such an agreement is a separate contract and is governed by the law of contract and is not regulated by the Uniform Commercial Code. The appellants contend that the evidence establishes such a contract and that the consideration for the extension was furnished by the additional collateral which was listed in the 1975 security agreement.

Appellants believe that the above clearly shows that the parties agreed to extend the due date for the \$115,000 note to March 1, 1976, and that such an extension is clearly legal.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF PROPERLY ACCELERATED THE PAYMENTS DUE UNDER THE NOTES AND THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD NOT ESTABLISHED A LACK OF GOOD FAITH IN DECLARING A DEFAULT UNDER THE SECURITY AGREEMENT.

Having previously established that the parties had reached an agreement which made all of the notes due on March 1, 1976, the appellants now desire to show that the

plaintiff-respondent had no right to accelerate the date of payment of the notes and that their actions in so doing were not in good faith as required by Utah statute and general case law.

The first issue concerns the right of the respondent, State Bank of Lehi, to accelerate the notes and to declare them due and owing on January 2, 1976. (See the complaint in this action, R. 113).

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