1977

State Bank of Lehi v. Ralph O. Woolsey and Sylvia W. Woolsey : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

The Respondent argued that the trial court acted within its discretion in trying this matter without a jury in view of such foreclosure action being an equitable suit and, further, that the court entertained all testimony regarding the documents in question but, further, that no fraud was involved and, therefor, struck testimony violating the parole evidence rule. Such action upon the part of the trial court was well within its discretion and did not constitute error. Respondent believes that the record shows overwhelming evidence to support the Findings, Conclusions and Judgment of Foreclosure.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S
MOTION TO STRIKE DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL.

This action was for the purpose of foreclosing upon three
(3) promissory notes secured by assignments of contract (Exhibits 12
and 13), and security agreement (Exhibit 15). Originally the Appellants
had requested a jury trial and, subsequent thereto, the Respondent filed
a motion to strike which was granted by Judge Bullock after the filing
of legal memoranda and oral argument. The Order striking the jury stated:

"This Order is based upon the finding by this Court that the
issues to be decided are largely equitable and arise from
an interpretation of written contracts and therefore the
defendants are not entitled to a jury trial."

In Norback v. Board of Directors of Church Extension Soc.,
84 Utah 506, 37 P. 2d 339 P. 345 (1934), this Court stated:

"If the issues are legal or the major issue legal, either
party is entitled upon proper demand to a jury trial; but if
the issues are equitable or the major issues to be resolved
by an application of equity, the legal issues being merely
subsidiary, the action should be regarded as equitable and
the rules of equity apply."

The basic question, therefore, is whether the major issues are
legal or equitable. This court has offered some guidance in the res-
olution of this question in the case of Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc.,
18 Utah 2d 113, 417 P. 2d 126 P. 128-129 (1966), wherein the court
stated:

"In circumstances where doubt exists as to whether the cause
should be regarded as one in equity, or one in law wherein
the party can insist on a jury as a matter of right, the
trial court should have some latitude of discretion. In
making that determination it is not bound by the ostensible
form of the action, nor by the particular wording of the
pleadings. It may examine into the nature of the rights
asserted and the remedies sought in the light of the facts
of the case to ascertain which predominates; and from that

determination make the appropriate order as to a jury or non-jury trial. The fact that the division of court hearing the pre-trial indicates that the case is set for a trial by jury is entitled to some consideration and should not be countermanded without good reason. Nevertheless it is the prerogative of the judge who actually tries the case to make the determination. Unless it is shown that the ruling was patently in error or an abuse of discretion, this court will not interfere with the ruling thereon."

The Appellants have attempted to show that the major issues were legal rather than equitable since the trial court's Findings of Fact numerically outnumbered the Conclusions of Law. This is clearly insufficient to show a patent abuse of discretion as required by the Sweeny case, supra. It is true that once a jury trial is found to be proper, issues of fact are for the jury. But the existence of issues of fact does not warrant a conclusion that the Appellants therefore had a right to a jury trial. Before a trial may be had to a jury there must be some legal issue. In Petty v. Clark, 102 Utah, 129 P 2d 568 (1942), a jury was allowed to decide the one legal issue of whether a clause was contained in the instrument at the time it was delivered. In Holland v. Wilson, 8 Utah 2d 11, 327 P. 2d 250 (1958), this court reaffirmed its view in Norback, supra, that if there are subsidiary legal issues in an equitable action the rules of equity would apply. This would appear to restrict somewhat the allowance in Petty v. Clark, supra, of the jury to try one legal issue when the major issues were equitable.

According to 55 Am. Jur. 2d Mortgages §588,

"Since a foreclosure suit is a suit in equity, there is in most jurisdictions no right to a jury trial, unless granted by constitutional or statutory provision, even though a personal judgment or decree for any deficiency remaining after application of the proceeds is sought."

Even in cases in which jury trial is allowed the legal effect to written instruments is to be determined by the court. In the case of Verdi v. Helper State Bank, 57 Utah 564, 196 P. 225 P. 228 (1921), this court stated:

"It is manifest that the court erred in submitting proposition "a" to a jury. In doing that the court required the jury to do what clearly the law requires of the court. The legal effect of written instruments is necessarily a question of law, and hence is one that must be determined by the court. To that rule there is no exception, not even in cases where the facts respecting the terms of the written instruments are in dispute, which arise sometimes where the written instruments have been lost. In the latter class of cases the jury may find what the terms of the instruments were, but the court must, nevertheless, determine the legal effect of the instruments when the terms are found and determined."

In addition, the question of whether the writing is completely integrated is also for the court. In 75 Am. Jur.2d Trial §410, it is stated that:

"The question whether a writing is, upon its face, a complete expression of the agreement of the parties is one for the court, and subject to qualifications where the contract is uncertain and ambiguous, particularly where extrinsic evidence has been introduced of surrounding facts and circumstances bearing upon intention of the parties, the general rule is that where a contract has been reduced to writing, its interpretation, construction, or legal effect is for the court and not for the jury. This is true whether the written agreement is expressed in one document or in several, provided the writings express the complete agreement of the parties and the language used is clear, plain, certain, undisputed, unambiguous, unequivocal, and not subject to conflicting inferences, or where the only doubt as to its meaning arises from the language the parties used, and not from extrinsic matters. In other words, where a clear meaning can be ascertained without resort to extrinsic facts, the interpretation of a writing is for the court. This rule is as applicable to commercial correspondence as to a formal written contract. Thus, the scope and effect of a contract which depends wholly upon written correspondence, and not upon extrinsic circumstances, are to be determined by the court. Whether terms of art were used in their ordinary meaning or not, in a contract between men familiar with

the business to which the terms relate, cannot be left to the jury, although they may determine the meaning of the terms in that business. The court cannot devolve its duty of construing written instruments upon the jury merely because its performance involves possible difficulty."

The major issues in the case at bar were equitable and, therefore those issues, as well as subsidiary legal issues, were rightfully tried without a jury. Since the major issues revolved around the effect to be given the terms of a written contract, there would be little for a jury to decide, even if it were an action at law. Since the foreclosure is a suit in equity there is no jury allowed no matter how many issues of fact there are. Since the Appellants have failed to show that the trial court's Order granting Respondent's motion to strike demand for jury trial was a patent error or abuse of discretion, such Order should be upheld.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THERE WAS NO EXTENSION OF THE DUE DATE OF THE \$115,000 NOTE.

It is generally held that an agreement to extend a due date of a note must possess all of the traditional requirements of any contract. In the landmark case in this area, Tsesmelis v. Sinton State Bank, 53 S.W. 2d 461 P. 462, 85 A.L.R. 319 (Tex. 1932), the court stated:

"To support a contention that the payment of a negotiable instrument has been extended, there must exist all the elements essential to the execution of a contract, and the agreement for the extension must be for a definite time and mutually bind the parties, payor and payee, the one to forbear suit during the time of extension, and the other his right to pay the debt before the end of that time."

In order for the consideration to be sufficient, the creditor

must secure, by reason of the extension, something which he could not otherwise demand. In the case at bar, since the original note of \$115,000.00 was secured by all present and all future animals, no additional benefit was given to the creditor by way of the July 3, 1975 Security Agreement. Any collateral added by the July 3, 1975 Security Agreement was to secure the loan of an additional \$50,000.00 to the Appellants. A predominant authority on contracts offered the following in regard to the sufficiency of consideration for an extension of a due date of a promissory note:

"If, however, the debtor neither promises to refrain from paying the debt until a fixed day in the future, nor to pay interest until that time whether the debt is paid or not, there is no consideration to support the creditor's promise to extend the time of payment." 1 Williston on Contracts §122.

In addition to the lack of consideration, the alleged extension agreement in the case at bar lacked mutuality. In the case of Keefer v. Valentine, 199 Iowa 1337, 203 N.W. 787 (1925), there was not an extension of the due date since the debtor "still had a right to pay the note at any time." Also, in Tolbert v. McSwain, 137 S.W. 2d 1051 (Tex. Civ. App. 1939), the court said, "During the period of the extension provided for the maker cannot have the right to make payment."

Since there was no consideration for the alleged extension agreement, and since there was no showing by the Appellants that he had promised not to pay the note during the period of the alleged extension, there was, as a matter of law, no agreement for the extension of the due date on the \$115,000.00 note. The trial court was therefore right in finding that the \$115,000.00 note was in default at the time this suit was instituted.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING ALL THREE NOTES TO BE DUE AND OWING IN THAT THE APPELLANTS DID NOT ESTABLISH LACK OF GOOD FAITH ON THE PART OF THE RESPONDENT IN DECLARING THE NOTES DUE.

Paragraph 8 of the Security Agreement dated July 3, 1975, states the grounds upon which the notes may be declared to be in default.

Subparagraph (1) provides as a ground for declaration of default that, "Debtor fails to pay any of the Obligations when due." Since the \$115,000.00 note was overdue as of February 20, 1975, and since there was no extension of the due date, as amply shown in the previous Point, it is clear that the \$115,000.00 note was due and owing on January 2, 1976, the date the other two notes were declared due and owing.

Subparagraph (4) allows for a declaration of default when the, "Debtor becomes insolvent or unable to pay debts as they mature." It was admitted on page 16 of the Appellant's brief that the Appellants were insolvent on January 2, 1976. In addition, Calvin H. Swenson testified, on page 79 of his deposition, that there had been an overdraft of over \$1,000.00 on an overdue feed bill. On page 80 of his deposition, Mr. Swenson also testified that the bank had to pay feed and supply bills totalling approximately \$10,000.00 in order to keep the mink from becoming worthless and unmarketable.

The third ground upon which the Respondent relied in declaring the notes to be in default was under Subparagraph (10) which states that the debtor shall be in default if "any collateral is lost, stolen or materially damaged. Appellants admitted that some 968 mink pelts were

stolen in late December of 1975, shortly before the bank declared the notes due on January 2, 1976. Subparagraph (10) was not conditional upon a lack of insurance, but stated that any theft or loss would cause the notes to be in default. The Appellants should not now be heard to object to this ground for default since he voluntarily signed the Security Agreement.

The fourth ground for default is Subparagraph (11) which states that the debtor shall be in default if the "Bank shall deem itself insecure for any reason whatsoever." This Subparagraph is subject to Section 70A-1-208, Utah Code Annotated, which provides:

"A term providing that one party or his successor in interest may accelerate payment or performance or require collateral or additional collateral 'at will' or 'when he deems himself insecure' or in words of similar import shall be construed to mean that he shall have power to do so only if he in good faith believes that the prospect of payment or performance is impaired. The burden of establishing lack of good faith is on the party against whom the power has been exercised."

This Court recently construed this statute in the case of Williamson v. Wanlass, 545 P. 2d 1145 (Utah 1976), cited by Appellants, but this case is readily distinguishable. Respondent was clearly justified in believing that the prospect of payment was impaired. Following is a list of various admitted actions of the Appellants which show the Respondent acted in good faith:

1. The threat of suicide on the part of Appellant, Ralph O. Woolsey. (See Testimony of Ralph O. Woolsey, R. 358, lines 1-6; and Testimony of Calvin H. Swenson, R. 300, lines 3-4 and R. 308, lines 1-7);
2. Judgments outstanding against Appellants (See Testimony of Calvin H. Swenson, R. 319, lines 10-22);

3. The neglect of the animals (See Testimony of Calvin H. Swenson, R. 301, lines 1-2, and Testimony of Berl Peterson, R. 486, lines 2-8);

4. The divorces of Appellant, Ralph O. Woolsey, and other marital problems. (See Testimony of Ralph O. Woolsey, R. 358, lines 1-2 and R. 407, lines 23-26); and

5. Appellant Ralph O. Woolsey's conviction for drunk driving during the month preceding the institution of this suit. (See Testimony of Ralph O. Woolsey, R. 407, line 27 through R. 409, line 2).

The foregoing conditions were clearly sufficient to justify the Respondent, through its president Calvin H. Swenson, in having a good faith belief that the prospect of payment was impaired. The Appellants in an attempt to fulfill their burden of showing a lack of good faith, have pointed to a number of Respondent's actions which they consider inequitable. The first of these is that the Respondent made no demand for payment. It is stated in 55 Am. Jur 2d, Mortgages §555:

"The general rule, in the absence of a statute or mortgage stipulation so providing, is that it is not essential that a demand for payment be made before commencement of an action for foreclosure of a mortgage. ... Clearly, where a mortgagor is insolvent, and has no funds at the place of payment, demand there, prior to foreclosure, is unnecessary."

That treatise cites Shaw v. Bill, 95 U.S. 10, 24 L. Ed. 333 (1877); Metropolitan State Bank v. Wright, 72 Colo. 106, 209 P. 804 (1921) and 147 A.L.R. 1109 as support for the preceding statements. In the case of Williamson v. Wanlass, supra, the attorney for the plaintiffs had stated that the plaintiffs might accelerate if they became aggravated.

This Court then stated:

"The question arises as to how the defendants would know that condition came about unless someone so advised them. It is generally true that if there is a condition to be fulfilled, of which one party would be aware and the other would not, it is regarded as fair and proper that the one who knows should be obliged to notify the other party affected thereby, and give him a reasonable opportunity to react thereto. "

This stands for the proposition that notice should be given of conditions such as aggravation prior to the acceleration of the notes. It does not stand for the proposition that a party be obligated to tell the other party that it is in default when the party already knows that it is in default. It is clear that the Respondent acted properly in accelerating without making a demand for payment upon the Appellant. In light of the Respondent's knowledge of Appellant's insolvency and inability to obtain outside financing, such demand would be useless. At any rate, the Respondent's failure to make demand of the Appellant is not a showing that the Respondent lacked a good faith belief that the prospect of payment had been impaired. Indeed, Appellant makes no effort to show that the prospect of payment was even existent, other than Appellant's friendship with someone who might have loaned Appellant some money in the future. It remains that at the time the suit was instituted the prospect of payment was at best dismal. In the *Williamson* case, supra, this Court found a lack of good faith belief that the prospect of payment was impaired. The Court there stated:

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